

# **Molecular Mechanisms of Metazoan Oocyte Development**

Viviana Pisa<sup>1,4</sup> • Silvia Gigliotti<sup>5</sup> • Franco Graziani<sup>5</sup> • Arturo C. Verrotti<sup>1,2,3,4\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> CEINGE-Biotecnologie Avanzate, Via Comunale Margherita 482, 80145 Naples, Italy
<sup>2</sup> SEMM-European School of Molecular Medicine, Via Comunale Margherita 482, 80145 Naples, Italy
<sup>3</sup> School of Biotechnological Sciences, University of Naples "Federico II", Via S. Pansini 5, 80131 Naples, Italy
<sup>4</sup> Dipartimento di Biochimica e Biotecnologie Mediche, University of Naples "Federico II", Via S. Pansini 5, 80131 Naples, Italy
<sup>5</sup> Institute of Genetics and Biophysics "A. Buzzati Traverso", CNR, Via P. Castellino 111, 80131 Naples, Italy

Corresponding author: \* verrotti@ceinge.unina.it

# ABSTRACT

The gametes are responsible for passing all the genetic information from one generation to another, giving rise to all the tissues in a developing animal, and ultimately guaranteeing the survival of species. The formation of germ-line stem cells occurs during early development in all animals. The differentiation of these pluripotent cells into mature gametes provides a continuous supply of sperms and eggs during adult life. Many aspects of germ-line development are conserved across species. For example, in most metazoans, female primordial germ cells (PGCs) migrate from an extragonadal site of origin to reach the somatic gonad and to produce oocytes. After a mitotic proliferative stage, the primary oocytes enter meiosis. In most animal species this process is arrested during prophase, and is completed only in response to intercellular signaling or fertilization, which trigger oocyte meiotic maturation. After the arrest, the oocyte synthesizes and stores a large amount of mRNAs that will be translated only during re-entry into the meiotic division both to promote oocyte maturation and early embryonic development. Translational control is obtained through a complex regulation carried out by different but highly conserved molecular mechanisms. Here we review the basic principles that underlie oocyte development, focusing on analogies and differences among the main model organisms.

## Keywords: Mos, oogenesis, translational regulation

Abbreviations: CPE, cytoplasmic polyadenylation elements; CPEB, CPE-binding protein; CPSF, cleavage and polyadenylation specificity factor; CSF, cytostatic factor; eIF4E, eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E; eIF4G, eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4G; GVBD, germinal vesicle breakdown; MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinases; MPF, maturation-promoting factor; PABP, poly(A)-binding protein; PAP, poly(A) polymerase; PGCs, primordial germ cells; PRE, polyadenylation response element; RISC, RNA-induced silencing complex; UTR, untranslated region

# CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
PGCs SPECIFICATION	
PGCs migration and guidance	
CYST FORMATION	
APOPTOSIS	
OOCYTE MATURATION	
TRANSLATIONAL CONTROL	
Cytoplasmic polyadenylation and deadenylation	
Translational inactivation by masking of mRNAs	
RNA interference: siRNAs and miRNAs	
CONCLUSIONS	144
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	144
REFERENCES	

# INTRODUCTION

In all organisms that reproduce sexually, the propagation and the maintenance of the species is ensured by the union of two types of highly specialized cells: the egg and the sperm. The cell that emerges, the zygote, inherits the genetic patrimony from both the gametes, in addition to maternal cytoplasm that supports the development of the early embryo. The formation of a mature functional gamete is therefore an essential event achieved through a series of molecular mechanisms that, al least in some aspects, are highly conserved among evolutionarily distant organisms. These mechanisms have been extensively studied in female germ cell development. The fundamental biological role played by female germ cells has in fact for years attracted the scientific interest and many evidences have confirmed that several events, ranging from specification and migration of the PGCs to programmed cellular death, are surprisingly similar in very different animals.

## PGCs SPECIFICATION

Primordial germ-line stem cells (PGCs) are immortal pluripotent cells, which are generated during early development in the life of all animals. Experimental studies in diverse model organisms have shown that germ-line determination

Received: 27 June, 2007. Accepted: 19 September, 2007.

# (A) Preformation





Fig. 1 Mechanisms of germ cell specification: preformation and epigenesis. (A) The pole plasm, localized at the posterior end of the *Drosophila* mature egg, contains mRNAs and proteins previously synthesized by the nurse cells and then transported to the oocyte. During early embryogenesis, some nuclei of the syncytium migrate posteriorly to the periphery and incorporate the pole plasm to become pole cells (the precursors of primordial germ cells). (B) In *Mus musculus*, no preexisting germ plasm has been observed in oocytes. Primordial germ cells (PGCs) appear only around day 7 postfertilization, after differentiation of embryonic and extraembryonic tissues, in the area called primitive streak, has occurred. These cells arise from a subpopolation of epiblast cells that are able to receive inductive signals from the extraembryonic ectoderm (pink arrows) and visceral endoderm (yellow arrows). PGCs and their precursors are depicted in red in both panels.

occurs by at least two alternative mechanisms: preformation and epigenesis (Extavour and Akam 2003) (Fig. 1). PGCs are often specified early during embryogenesis, in a defined area of the egg, named germ plasm, where maternally inherited determinants are localized: this mechanism is indicated as preformation. The germ plasm is characterized by large electron-dense particles, often referred to as "nuage", "polar granules", or "P granules", containing RNAs and proteins (Santos and Lehmann 2004a). These aggregates are the most evident similarity of PGCs across phyla. *Drosophila melanogaster, Caenorhabditis elegans*, and *Xenopus laevis* are obvious examples of germ-line determination as preformation.

In the fruit-fly Drosophila melanogaster, a variety of RNAs and proteins are synthesized by the nurse cells during oogenesis and localized in the germ plasm by molecular anchoring; translational regulation is successively achieved by posterior-specific molecular mechanisms (Mahowald 2001; Vanzo and Ephrussi 2002). After fertilization, the zygote develops as a syncytium up to the stage of 6000 nuclei. When 256 nuclei have been formed, ten of them migrate to the posterior end of the embryo where germ plasm is located. Once at the posterior end of embryo, the ten nuclei become surrounded by cellular membranes, which incorporate germ plasm components to form the so-called pole cells. These cells stop to divide and are committed to the germ cell fate, while somatic nuclei continue to divide synchronously before they become incorporated into somatic cells (Matova and Cooley 2001; Santos and Lehmann 2004a) (Fig. 1).

The nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans* provides a second example where germ cells are specified by preformation principles. The zygote, in fact, contains electron-dense granules, called P granules, which are distributed asymmetrically during early embryo cleavage events. Only the cell that inherits these granules (called P4) becomes a germinal primordial cell, while the others develop into somatic founder cells. P4 then divides once during embryonic development, distributing the P granules to its daughter cells, Z2 and Z3. During post-embryonic development, Z2 and Z3 proliferate to give rise to the germ-line progeny (Strome and Wood 1982; Hird *et al.* 1996; Berkowitz and Strome 2000).

In the frog *Xenopus laevis*, the germinal plasm, which is rich in mitochondria and electron-dense granulo-fibrillar material (also called mitochondrial cloud or Balbiani's body), is localized at the vegetal pole of the oocyte. After fertilization, at the 32-cell stage, this plasm segregates into four vegetal-pole blastomeres. Next, each of these blastomeres divides asymmetrically and the few cells that specifically accumulate the vegetal plasm differentiate as PGCs (Whitington and Dixon 1975; Saffman and Lasko 1999).

In other species, including mammals, germ cells are not observed until late in development and probably arise as a result of inductive signals from surrounding tissues: this mechanism is indicated as epigenesis (Extavour and Akam 2003).

The mouse *Mus musculus* is the best-known example of determination by epigenesis, because germ cell specification does not appear to depend on maternally localized determinants. In Mus musculus embryos, the first cleavage division contributes to generate blastomeres with different developmental characteristics (Plusa et al. 2005). However, only at the 8-16 cell stage blastomere fates become morphologically apparent: the internal blastomeres differentiate from the external ones, thus giving rise to embryonic and extra-embryonic tissues, respectively. The inner cell mass, derived from the internal blastomeres, develops into an epiblast that surrounds the amniotic cavity: a subpopulation of epiblast cells, proximal to the primitive streak (representing one of the first signs of gastrulation), is able to interpret the inductive signals produced by neighboring tissues and differentiates into PGCs (Fig. 1).

Several experimental evidences support the epigenetic mechanism for mouse germ-line specification: transplantation of distal epiblast cells to the proximal region of the epiblast can give rise to PGCs instead of ectodermal derivatives. On the contrary, proximal epiblast cells are unable to give rise to PGCs if transplanted to the distal region of the embryo (Tsang *et al.* 2001).

Despite the mechanistic differences underlying germ cell specification in different organisms, many of the genes that set germ cells apart from somatic cells are shared among species, suggesting a common germ cell identity program. For instance, the *vasa* gene, originally identified in *Drosophila* and soon after in other species, including *Xenopus*, *C. elegans*, mouse, and humans (Schupbach and Wieschaus 1986; Roussell and Bennett 1993; Fujiwara *et al.* 1994; Komiya *et al.* 1994; Castrillon *et al.* 2000; Raz 2000), encodes a DEAD-box ATP-dependent RNA helicase whose expression is exclusively restricted to the germ-line cells. vasa gene products are present in PGCs determined by both preformation and epigenesis mechanisms, thus indicating key functions not only for specification but also for survival of these cells. Moreover, Drosophila Vasa is required for translation of several mRNAs, including nanos (Gavis et al. 1996). Nanos is a RNA binding protein, involved, together with Pumilio, in repression of specific mRNAs during embryo patterning and germ cell formation, migration, and differentiation (Forbes and Lehmann 1998; Wreden et al. 1997; Parisi and Lin 2000; Gilboa and Lehmann 2004a; Kadyrova et al. 2007). The germ-line pathway involving the Pumilio-Nanos complex is conserved in Diptera and other organisms, including C. elegans (Subramaniam and Sey-doux 1999), Xenopus (Nakahata et al. 2001), and humans (Jaruzelska et al. 2003), suggesting a conserved role in germ cell development and maintenance.

## PGCs migration and guidance

Analogies across different species are also observed for mechanistic aspects of germ cell migration. Generally, germ cells emerge in an extragonadal site and then migrate through and down a variety of somatic tissues to join the somatic component of the gonad. In the gonad, the germ cells stop their mitotic divisions and eventually enter meiosis to differentiate into gametes. *Drosophila, Xenopus*, and mammals have similar mechanisms of germ cell migration, while *C. elegans* displays a characteristic process of gonad formation.

During Drosophila gastrulation, the pole cells, located at the posterior of the embryo, are first incorporated in the lumen of the posterior midgut, successively migrate through the midgut epithelium and the surrounding endodermic layer to attach to the mesoderm. After alignment with the gonadal mesoderm, pole cells condense with somatic gonadal precursor cells to form the gonad (Saffman and Lasko 1999; Santos and Lehmann 2004a). On the basis of their spherical non-motile morphology, a passive movement of the pole cells has been hypothesized during invagination of the posterior midgut. The pole cells begin to actively migrate when they pass through the posterior midgut epithelium: at this stage they form cellular extensions consisting of pseudopodia and membrane ruffling contacting each other (Callaini et al. 1995). These extensions are enhanced by hyper-activation of the JAK/STAT pathway, suggesting a major role of this signaling pathway in the regulation of cell motility during migration (Brown et al. 2006).

In *Xenopus* and mouse, the main steps of PGCs migration closely resemble those described for *Drosophila*: germ cells are incorporated passively in the gut and migrate actively toward the mesoderm to reach the somatic gonadal precursors.

On the other hand, *C. elegans* has a singular way to form the gonads. During gastrulation, the Z2 and Z3 PGCs remain in their original site, extend protrusions into the gut and toward each other, and are finally reached by somatic gonadal cells.

During migration, mitotic activity of PGCs is speciesspecific: *Drosophila* and *C. elegans* PGCs are mitotically inactive, *Xenopus* PGCs undergo few division cycles, while mouse PGCs actively divide (Saffman and Lasko 1999; Matova and Cooley 2001; Molyneaux and Wylie 2004).

The analysis of PGC migration in different organisms indicated that germ cells are able to reach their target site through complex interactions with somatic cells. These cells may play either a permissive (i.e. by modifying the characteristics of the midgut epithelium, thus permitting PGC migration) or an instructive role (i.e. by generating both repulsive and attractive signals) (Raz 2004). Mechanisms of PGC guidance seem to be rather conserved among species. In *Drosophila*, active migration through the gut epithelium depends on the function of *trapped in endoderm-1* (*Tre1*), a gene expressed in PGCs and encoding a seven transmembrane domain orphan receptor related to chemokine receptors. An important role for this family of receptors has been demonstrated also in mouse and zebrafish PGC migration. In *Xenopus*, there are few data available concerning molecules involved in PGC migration, since the identification of the germ-line cells within the endodermal mass is difficult and their number is limited. However, the chemokine receptor xCXCR4 is expressed in Xenopus presumptive PGCs (pPGCs) too, even if its involvement in PGC migration remains to be ascertained (Nishiumi et al. 2005). Moreover, the 3-Hydroxy 3-Methylglutaryl Coenzyme A (HMGCoAR/ *Hmgcr*), an enzyme necessary in mammals for the biosynthesis of isoprenoids and cholesterol, plays an instructive role in Drosophila, thus providing germ cells with attractive cues during migration toward the mesoderm (van Doren et al.1998; Santos and Lehmann 2004b). Similar results were observed in zebrafish supporting the idea of common guidance cues for germ cells (Thorpe et al. 2004).

#### **CYST FORMATION**

After gonad colonization, PGCs start a distinctive program of divisions to form cysts. Cyst formation is a universal step during animal oogenesis: a founder cell, often called cystoblast, undergoes a series of divisions followed by incomeplete cytokinesis to form a syncytial cluster of  $2^n$  cells (Pepling and Spradling 1999). The *n* number of these cells is species-specific.

In Drosophila, the germ-line cyst is made of one oocyte and 15 nurse cells, which are interconnected by intercellular bridges called ring canals. This organization persists until the completion of oocyte maturation, a phase when nurse cells, whose function is to provide nutrients to the growing oocyte, undergo apoptosis. A syncytium is also observed in C. elegans germ-line cells where 8-12 nuclei arrange around a central anucleate core, called rachis: each nucleus is surrounded by an incomplete plasma membrane and joined to the rachis through a cytoplasmic bridge. However, unlike Drosophila, gonial cells in C. elegans do not form separate clusters and the formation of the syncytium is still poorly understood. Clusters of gonial cells have been nevertheless reported in different species, including Xenopus and mammals. In these organisms, germ cells enter meiosis only in the pre-adult gonad: this characteristic made the identification of the gonial cell clusters more difficult then in Drosophila where meiosis occurs during oogenesis throughout adult life. In *Xenopus*, at the beginning of meiosis, about 16 interconnected pear-shaped, highly polarized cells are found (Gard et al. 1995). In mammals, the number of germ cells in each cluster seems to be unfixed, often corresponding to  $2^n$  (Pepling and Spradling 1998).

Cyst formation appears to be a highly conserved event in early gametogenesis. Different hypotheses have been proposed to clarify the meaning of the cyst, ranging from facilitating the beginning of meiosis to germ-line sex determination (Pepling and Spradling 1999). In general, even if the presence of intercellular bridges may limit the total number of gonial cell divisions, it may also allow the passage of molecules between different cell types as demonstrated in the *Drosophila* cyst (Matova and Cooley 2001).

A key role in Drosophila cyst formation is played by the fusome, a germ-line specific organelle rich in small, endoplasmic reticulum (ER)-like vesicles (Pepling and Spradling 1999). During germ cell divisions, the fusome branches through the ring canals, extending into every cell. After cyst formation, the fusome breaks down, thus permitting cytoplasm transport through the ring canals (de Cuevas and Spradling 1998). The fusome, although indispensable for correct cyst formation in Drosophila, has not been identified in other organisms yet. However, cytoplasmic structures that resemble the fusome have been described in vertebrate germ cells. In Xenopus, for example, a structure very similar to the Drosophila fusome has been found based on ultra-structural criteria and biochemical composition. This structure includes numerous vesicles resembling the ER, and contains  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -spectrin like the *Drosophila* fusome (Kloc et al. 2004).

## APOPTOSIS

Programmed cellular death is achieved through a highly conserved program that is present in all multi-cellular organisms. Apoptosis is involved in a multitude of biological processes, including the correct development of gametes.

In organisms like Drosophila, where cyst formation occurs throughout oogenesis, apoptosis is the mechanism used by nurse cells to deliver their cytoplasmic components into the growing oocyte. Cell death is also observed in the germarium (the region of the ovary where germ-line stem cells reside and divide asymmetrically and germ-line cysts are generated) and during mid-oogenesis in response to environmental stimuli (Drummond-Barbosa and Spradling 2001) possibly to avoid the additional energetic consume required to produce a mature egg (McCall 2004; Baum et al. 2005). During late oogenesis, dying nurse cells dump their cytoplasm into the growing oocyte and are then phagocytosed by adjacent follicle cells. At the entry of the egg into the lateral oviduct, epithelial cells phagocyte, in turn, apoptotic follicle cells (Cavaliere et al. 1998; Foley and Cooley 1998; Nezis et al. 2000, 2002).

Even if all dying cells in the different stages of oogenesis display the typical features of apoptotic cells (such as chromatin and cytoplasm condensation, DNA fragmentation, and cytoskeleton reorganization), during late oogenesis cell death does not seem to require the common Caspase pathway (Foley and Cooley 1998; Peterson *et al.* 2003; Nezis *et al.* 2006). It was recently reported that dying nurse cells at the end of oogenesis show no evidence of cytoplasmic caspase activity, indicating that caspases should not play essential roles in programmed cell death of late stage egg chambers (Mazzalupo and Cooley 2006).

In *C. elegans*, germ cell death occurs exclusively during oogenesis of adult hermaphrodites in order to eliminate approximately half of all potential oocytes (Gumienny *et al.* 1999). This process is observed specifically at the end of prophase I, when germ cell nuclei are part of a large syncytium and are not mitotically synchronized. Unlike mammals and *Drosophila*, *C. elegans* has no morphologically distinct nurse cells, so apoptosis of these extra germ cells may be used to provide cytoplasmic components to the oocytes. The same apoptotic machinery acts both during somatic and germ cell death, but distinct regulatory proteins might control its activation (Gumienny *et al.* 1999).

In *Xenopus*, few apoptotic cells are detected within the ovary, even though the oocytes appear to be particularly vulnerable to cell death during yolk accumulation and apoptosis can be induced by starvation (Matova and Cooley 2001). On the contrary, no signs of apoptosis are observed within germ-line cysts, suggesting that all the cells composing a cyst could differentiate into mature oocytes (Kloc *et al.* 2004).

In mammals, apoptosis eliminates up to 99% of the total number of oocytes and takes place during fetal and neonatal ovarian development (a process called attrition) and between puberty and menopause (named atresia) (Morita and Tilly 1999). In particular, during fetal ovarian development in human and rat, extensive cell death occurs coincidentally with two important processes: oocyte meiosis (throughout pachitene and diplotene stages of prophase I) and folliculogenesis (during the diplotene stage of prophase I) (Matova and Cooley 2001). The importance of this process for selection of those oocytes that will survive still remains to be ascertained.

## **OOCYTE MATURATION**

The term "oocyte maturation" is used to indicate all the molecular mechanisms employed by an immature oocyte to become a fertilizable gamete. A universal characteristic of oocyte development is meiotic division. The entire process involves morphological changes and exploits molecular mechanisms that are highly conserved in all metazoans, in particular nuclear envelope breakdown (GVBD), rearrangement of the cortical cytoskeleton, and meiotic spindle assembly. Moreover, in virtually all species, meiosis includes at least one arrest phase. The cell cycle stage when meiotic arrest takes place is organism-dependent. In most animal species, the first arrest occurs at prophase I (PI; Masui and Clarke 1979; Masui 2001). During this stage, the oocyte grows, thus accumulating yolk and molecules necessary to promote meiotic maturation and to ensure early embryonic development. Moreover, the nucleus, called germinal vesicle (GV), also enlarges in size and synthesizes mRNAs that after maturation are stored untranslated, together with ribosomal RNAs, in the cytoplasm. When meiosis resumes, stimulated by fertilization or gonadotropins secreted from the pituitary gland (in vertebrates), the large GV breaks down (GVBD) releasing its nucleoplasm into the cytoplasm, while chromosomes condense to a metaphase state and migrate to the periphery of the cell. At telophase, an unequal cytokinesis process takes place and the first polar body, which contains little or no cytoplasm, is extruded from secondary oocytes.

In metazoa, fertilization promotes meiosis completion, but the time when fertilization occurs is species-specific (**Fig. 2**). In *C. elegans*, the oocyte arrests at the end of PI, therefore fertilization is necessary to complete both meiotic divisions. On the contrary, when oocyte maturation is hormone-dependent, a second meiotic arrest takes place before fertilization and completion of maturation. In most insects, for instance, the second arrest takes place during metaphase (MI) or anaphase (AI) of the first meiotic division, while in most vertebrates, during metaphase of the second meiotic division (MII). Furthermore, in some organisms, such as sea urchin and jelly fish, meiosis is already complete at fertilization (Masui 1991, 2001; Tunquist and Maller 2003; Greenstein 2005).

In *Drosophila*, the oocyte arrests transiently in PI and is loaded of RNAs and proteins by the nurse cells. Select mRNAs specifically localize within the oocyte to direct embryonic axis formation. The second meiotic arrest occurs in MI, at late stages of egg chamber development. The resumption of meiosis appears therefore to be dependent on ovulation (Heifetz *et al.* 2001).

Independently from the stage of arrest and the type of inducing stimuli, the resumption of the meiotic cell cycle depends upon a molecular complex: the maturation-promoting factor (MPF), which is highly conserved from yeast to human. The MPF complex is a universal regulator of the G2/M transition in the cell cycle of all eukaryotes (Yamashita 1998) and has been broadly studied in *Xenopus laevis* oocytes (Masui 2001; Dekel 2005).

MPF is a heterodimer consisting of a catalytic subunit, the p34Cdc2 (Cdc2 for short) serine/threonine kinase, and a regulatory subunit, Cyclin B (Dekel 1996). The phosphorylation state of the Cdc2 kinase, when complexed to Cyclin B, modulates its activity. In some organisms, like fishes and amphibians (but not Xenopus), MPF is formed only after hormone stimulation, which induces de novo synthesis of *cyclin B* mRNA. The constituted factor is then activated by the cyclin-dependent kinase activating kinase (CAK) that phosphorylates Cdc2. In other organisms, such as Xenopus, MPF is present as an inactive form called pre-MPF; after hormone induction, the phosphatase Cdc25 dephosphorylates Cdc2, thus activating MPF (Yamashita 1998). A small amount of pre-MPF was found also in the mouse, where it is sufficient to induce GVBD but not to promote completion of oocyte maturation (Chesnel and Eppig 1995).

The highly conserved Mos protein, a germ cell-specific serine/threonine kinase that triggers the mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs) cascade by acting as a MAPK kinase kinase (MEKK), plays a key role during oocyte maturation. The relevance of this pathway has been deeply explored, especially during *Xenopus* and mouse oogenesis. Numerous studies indicate that Mos performs diverse functions in different species (Gotoh *et al.* 1995; Abrieu *et al.* 



**Fig. 2 Summary of molecular events triggering maturation of** *Xenopus* **oocytes.** Resumption of meiosis from primary arrest during prophase I is induced by maturation-promoting factor (MPF) activity triggered by progesterone. This process involves a series of molecular activities and morphological changes, including nuclear envelope breakdown (GVBD) and meiotic spindle assembly. Mos protein represents the key player involved both in MPF activation and cytostatic factor (CSF) establishment at metaphase II. Progesterone stimulation promotes the activation of Mos/MAPK/Rsk cascade that, in turn, inhibits the MPF inhibitory kinase Myt1. Target of Rsk is also Bub1 that inhibits the anaphase-promoting complex APC/C preventing meiosis progression. The activation of Cdc25 by progesterone also promotes MPF activation through dephosphorylation of Cdc2. Meiosis completion in *Xenopus* (and in most vertebrates) is prompted by fertilization at metaphase II (c). Fertilization promotes meiosis completion in every species, however it occurs in a specific time depending on organisms; for instance, at the end of prophase I in *C. elegans* (a), at metaphase I in *Drosophila* (b), or at the end of meiosis in organisms like sea urchins (d). Some of the molecules depicted in the figure may act in a similar manner during oocyte maturation in species other that *Xenopus* (see text for details).

#### 2001; Josefsberg et al. 2003; Lazar et al. 2004).

In Xenopus, progesterone stimulation leads to the svnthesis of Mos and therefore the activation of the Mos/MEK/ MAPK/p90<sub>Rsk</sub> cascade that in turn inhibits the MPF inhibitory kinase Myt1. Moreover, MAPK activation may also contribute to stabilize MPF nuclear localization through phosphorylation of Cyclin B. Therefore, Mos signaling directly takes part to the activation and stabilization of MPF during the G2/meiosis I transition (Tunquist and Maller 2003) (Fig. 2). The MPF and Mos pathways, promoted by progesterone, are both required for meiotic maturation induction (Haccard and Jessus 2006). However, despite the numerous available data, the precise roles played by MAPK and MPF in oocyte maturation are not fully understood yet. Kotani and Yamashita (2002) demonstrated that, at least in Rana oocytes, MAPK reorganizes the microtubule array, surrounding the GV, at the onset of GVBD, without any MPF activity, while MPF alone, in absence of MAPK activity, induces GVBD. However, MAPK and MPF collaborate to accomplish other morphological events, including chromosome condensation, necessary for meiotic progression

*Xenopus* oocytes, after GVBD and chromosome condensation to the metaphase state, arrest their cycle in metaphase II. At this stage, the activity of the cytostatic factor (CSF) is important to establish and maintain the arrest. The molecular composition of CSF is still unknown, but many evidences suggest that its major component is likely to be a protein kinase. In any case, CSF is not intended as a single molecule but as an activity that arises during oocyte maturation, induces metaphase arrest, is maintained until oocyte fertilization/activation, and then is inactivated (Masui 2000; Tunquist and Maller 2003). Mos is one of the proteins that satisfies all these criteria; some evidences suggest that the MAPK pathway, stimulated by Mos, activates Bub1, a conserved protein involved in the spindle assembly checkpoint (SAC) pathway in somatic cells. The final target of this pathway is the anaphase-promoting complex or cyclosome (APC/C), an E3 ubiquitin ligase that directly ubiquitinates Cyclin B and other proteins to promote entry into anaphase. During CSF arrest, Mos activates Bub1 through the MAPK pathway, thus causing inhibition of the APC/C (Schwab et al. 2001; Tunquist et al. 2002; Tunquist and Maller 2003). Consequently, in Xenopus, the protein Mos is involved in a large pathway important for both activation and stabilization of MPF activity during the G2/meiosis I transition and the establishment of CSF arrest during meiosis II (Fig. 2).

In mammals, the interplay between MPF and the MAPK pathway seems to be different from amphibians. Data from the literature are contradictory, however recent demonstrations suggest that MAPK does not control early meiotic events but is required for metaphase II arrest. More-

over, MAPK activation is facilitated by MPF through the regulation of Mos expression (Lazar *et al.* 2002; Josefsberg *et al.* 2003).

In frog and mouse oocytes, one of the earliest biochemical events observed in response to the hormone stimulus is a decrease of cyclic adenosine 3',5' monophosphate (cAMP) levels. cAMP is thought to be generated by surrounding follicular cells and transferred to the oocyte through gap junctions: hormone induction could therefore interrupt cell to cell communication, thus terminating the flux of follicle cAMP into the oocyte (Dekel 2005). The negative action exerted by cAMP on meiotic maturation is achieved through the catalytic activity of protein kinase A (PKA). A model proposed by Dekel (2005) suggests that cAMP prevents pre-MPF activation and represses de novo synthesis of Cyclin B1. The reduction of cAMP allows MPF activation that, besides promoting GVBD and chromosome condensation, induces polyadenylation of the mos mRNA, thus its translation (Lazar et al. 2002; Josefsberg et al. 2003; Lazar et al. 2004). cAMP reduction has been described also in other organisms, such as rat and fish, however in some species like rabbit, pig and sheep, oocyte maturation is associated with a transient increase of cAMP levels (Schmitt and Nebreda 2002).

In mammals, another unanswered question is the role played by Mos/MEK/MAPK/p90<sub>Rsk</sub>/SAC proteins in CSF activity. While in frog this pathway is important for the establishment of CSF arrest during meiosis II, in mouse,  $p90_{Rsk}$  seems to have no roles because oocytes from Rsk knockout mice maintain the ability to arrest in MII (Dumont *et al.* 2005). Moreover, the SAC proteins are not required for oocyte arrest at MII in the mouse (Tsurumi *et al.* 2004). The Mos pathway could therefore act independently from  $p90_{Rsk}$ , probably contributing to maintenance rather than establishment of the MII arrest (Madgwick and Jones 2007).

A functional hortologue of the Mos protein has been identified in *Drosophila* (Ivanovska *et al.* 2004). Injection of *dmos* mRNA into *Xenopus* embryos blocks mitosis and increases active MAPK levels. Moreover, dMos appears to be responsible for the majority of MAPK activation in *Drosophila*. Nevertheless, dMos seems to be dispensable for meiosis since *dmos* mutant flies complete meiosis and produce fertilized embryos that develop normally, although there is a reduction in female fertility (Ivanovska *et al.* 2004).

#### **TRANSLATIONAL CONTROL**

Messenger RNAs (mRNAs) and macromolecules synthesized and stored in the oocytes, during the early stages of oogenesis, are required to support their maturation and fertilization, and also early embryogenesis, since these events occur in absence of transcription. The spatio-temporal expression of mRNAs, accumulated within early oocytes, is a key control point to guarantee proper oocyte maturation and development.

Within growing oocytes, the mRNAs can have very different fates: immediate translation, storage and later recruitment for translation, or degradation only at specific stages. This different behavior depends upon mRNA association with a set of proteins that regulate mRNA availability to initiation factors and ribosomes (Eichenlaub-Ritter and Peschke 2002).

Translation initiation of the vast majority of eukaryotic mRNAs is cap-dependent, because it requires a methylated guanosine residue at the 5' end of the mRNA, which is recognized by the cap binding factor eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E (eIF4E). After being transcribed in the nucleus and before being transported into the cytoplasm, a maturating mRNA is also modified at its 3' end by the poly(A) polymerase (PAP) enzyme, which adds up to 250 adenosine residues. Properly capped and polyadenylated mRNAs are transported into the cytoplasm and efficiently translated. On the other hand, regulated mRNAs are thought to be first deadenylated and stored in a translationally silent



Fig. 3 Scheme of cis-acting sequences and trans-acting factors directing cytoplasmic polyadenylation-dependent translation of mos mRNA. The 3' untranslated region (3'-UTR) of mos mRNA contains a nuclear polyadenylation signal (NPS), a cytoplasmic polyadenylation element (CPE, that is bound to CPE-binding protein, CPEB), and a polyadenylation response element (PRE). All these sequences modulate polyadenylation events in the cytoplasm of Xenopus oocytes. Progesterone stimulation appears to activate mos translation in two temporally distinct phases: an early PRE-dependent translation, through a trans-acting factor (Charlesworth et al. 2006), and a CPE-dependent translation, stimulated by Aurora/Eg2 kinase activation (Mendez et al. 2000). PRE-dependent mos mRNA polyadenylation promotes its initial translation, which leads to the establishment of a Mos/MAP kinase positive feedback loop (dotted line). In turn, MAPK activation stimulates Cdc2 to further enhance CPE-dependent mos mRNA translation. The NPS sequence is able to direct both nuclear, one of the maturation events of eukaryotic pre-mRNAs (Piccioni et al. 2005a), and cytoplasmic polyadenylation by binding to cleavage and polyadenylation specificity factor (CPSF). The circularization of the mRNA is simplified in the figure by highlighting the cap-binding protein eIF4E (eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E), the poly(A)-binding protein (PABP), and the scaffolding factor eIF4G (eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4G). The poly(A) polymerase (PAP) promotes the addition of adenosine residues in both nuclear and cytoplasmic compartments. The 5'- and 3'-UTRs are in cyan, while the coding region is in blue.

state. Successively, the elongation of the poly(A) tail by cytoplasmic polyadenylation triggers translation of these mRNAs when protein activity is needed (Piccioni et al. 2005a). According to the model of mRNA circularization, translation initiation is promoted by the interaction between the cap structure and the poly(A) tail (Munroe and Jacobson 1990). The mRNA forms a "closed loop" complex through the poly(A) binding protein (PABP) and the initiation factors eIF4G and eIF4E (Wells et al. 1998) (Fig. 3). It has been proposed that the "closed loop" complex both stabilizes the association of the cap-binding initiation factors and facilitates the recovery of ribosomes for a new cycle of translation (Eichenlaub-Ritter and Peschke 2002; de Moor et al. 2005; Piccioni et al. 2005a). Several proteins can interact with cis-acting sequences embedded in the 5' or 3' untranslated regions (UTRs) of the mRNAs, thus regulating the length of the poly(A) tail and/or competing for the assembly of a translationally active eIF4E-eIF4G complex. If some aspects of these processes appear to be species-specific, most of the molecules involved are conserved in developmentally distant organisms, thus suggesting a common mode of action.

#### Cytoplasmic polyadenylation and deadenylation

Translational regulation by cytoplasmic polyadenylation is a conserved biological mechanism, probably occurring in all metazoa. In *Xenopus* and mouse, the 3'-UTRs of select mRNAs, including several *cyclins*, contain regulatory sequences called cytoplasmic polyadenylation elements (CPEs) (Barkoff *et al.* 2000; Mendez and Richter 2001). CPEs are AU-rich sequences capable to recruit the RNA-interacting protein CPE-binding protein (CPEB) (Huarte *et al.* 1992; Verrotti *et al.* 1996; Wickens *et al.* 2000; Richter 2007). CPEB is able either to engage a translational repressor called Maskin, which competes with eIF4G for eIF4E-binding, or to trigger polyadenylation-promoting translation. It is CPEB phosphorylation that induces the switch from a mechanism to another (Tay *et al.* 2003).

A silent mRNA has a short poly(Å) tail that accommodates only a few molecules of PABP not sufficient to derepress translation or compete with Maskin. During oocyte meiotic maturation, phosphorylated CPEB is able to activate CPSF (<u>C</u>leavage and <u>Polyadenylation Specificity Fac-</u> tor) probably enhancing its binding to the AAUAAA sequence (named nuclear polyadenylation signal, but functional also in the cytoplasm) located downstream from the CPE; CPSF in turn attracts PAP that, in collaboration with PABP, stimulates polyadenylation. The longer poly(A) tail recruits more PABP molecules that facilitate eIF4G to displace Maskin from eIF4E-binding (Cao and Richter 2002), thus promoting efficient translation initiation.

Homologues of Xenopus CPEB are found in a number of animal species (Mendez and Richter 2001; Richter 2007). The Drosophila CPEB, called Orb, is involved in translational regulation of oskar (osk) mRNA during Drosophila oogenesis (Lantz et al. 1992, 1994; Chang et al. 1999). Oskar protein is tightly localized at the posterior pole of the growing oocyte through a localization-dependent translation mechanism of its mRNA, and promotes abdominal patterning and germ-line differentiation. The unlocalized osk mRNA is translationally repressed by the binding of the Bruno protein (Bru) to specific Bruno Response Elements (BRE) in its 3'-UTR. Orb probably enhances osk translation through the addition of a long poly(A) tail, although the stretch of adenosine residues is not sufficient to overcome Bru-mediated repression (Chang et al. 1999; Castagnetti and Ephrussi 2003). Nevertheless, Bru and Orb physically interact suggesting the existence of a multi-protein complex containing both positive and negative regulators of osk translation (Castagnetti and Ephrussi 2003).

CPEB was first discovered in Xenopus as a CPE-binding protein (Hake and Richter 1994) and subsequently cloned in the mouse (mCPEB; Gebauer and Richter 1996). The two proteins share 91% of identity in the region containing the RNA-binding domains; this region is also similar to the RNA-binding domain of Orb (Lantz et al. 1992). mCPEB mRNA is mainly restricted to ovary, testis, and kidney and, within the ovary, it is exclusively present in oocytes (Gebauer and Richter 1996). CPEB knockout mice show that oocyte meiotic progression is disrupted at pachytene (Tay and Richter 2001). To explore the function of CPEB after the pachytene stage, Racki and Richter (2006) generated transgenic mice expressing siRNA against CPEB mRNA after this stage and demonstrated that oocytes derived from these animals do not develop normally. CPEB is able to associate with a number of CPE-containing mRNAs, including those encoding Mos and Gdf9 (Matzuk et al. 2002; Roy and Matzuk 2006). The latter mRNA encodes for a growth factor, critical for coordinated oocytefollicle development, which is synthesized in and secreted from oocytes. In the transgenic oocyte, expressing siRNA against CPEB, the polyadenylation status of both c-mos and Gdf9 mRNAs is altered (Racki and Richter 2006), thus linking CPEB function to poly(A) elongation and consequent translation of select mRNAs during the dictyate stage.

The CPE pathway is highly networked since the products of CPE-containing messages may target themselves CPE sequences. The Aurora A/Eg2 kinase, for instance, which phosphorylates CPEB in *Xenopus* oocytes is itself encoded by a CPE-containing mRNA (Vasudevan *et al.* 2006).

Additional components of the cytoplasmic polyadenylation machinery have been recently found. Kim and Richter (2006) reported a mechanism by which the poly(A) tail length of CPE-containing mRNAs is regulated. They demonstrated that the cyclin B1 mRNA, upon acquisition of a long poly(A) tail in the nucleus of *Xenopus* oocytes, undergoes CPE-dependent deadenylation in the cytoplasm by the deadenylase PARN. In particular, they showed that GLD-2, a factor that has a poly(A) polymerase activity and is an atypical member of the DNA nucleotydil-transferase superfamily, and the deadenylase PARN are enzymes of the same CPEB-containing RNP complex. The enzymatic activity of PARN appears to be greater than GLD-2, so the poly(A) tail is kept short until oocyte maturation, when Aurora A phosphorylates CPEB, thus causing PARN expulsion from the complex and allowing GLD-2 activity. GLD-2 homologs were identified also in yeast (Saitoh et al. 2002; Read et al. 2002), C. elegans (Wang et al 2002), mouse, and human (Kwak et al. 2004).

One of the most studied mRNAs, known to be regulated by cytoplasmic polyadenylation, is mos. In Xenopus, the synthesis of the Mos protein begins shortly after progesterone stimulation and prior to GVBD. In vertebrates, mos translation is CPE- and CPEB-dependent (Gebauer et al. 1994; Mendez et al. 2000; Piccioni et al. 2005a). In addition, Charlesworth et al. (2002, 2006) demonstrated that the 3'-UTR of mos mRNA contains a polyadenylation response element (PRE) that, bound by a trans-acting factor, directs its early cytoplasmic polyadenylation and translational activation in a progesterone-triggered and CPE-independent manner. In summary, mos mRNA translation occurs after progesterone stimulation in two temporally and mechanistically distinct phases: an early PRE-directed and a later CPE-dependent Mos protein synthesis, which in turn activates the MAP kinase cascade to assure proper oocyte maturation (Fig. 3)

In Xenopus and mouse, most maternal mRNAs, includeing "housekeeping" mRNAs, undergo a default deadenyla-tion process after GVBD, since they do not have CPE sequences. This deadenylating activity does not seem to require cis-acting specific elements (Varnum and Wormington 1990) and, in Xenopus, is mediated by xPARN (Copeland Wormington 2001). Despite deadenylation, these and mRNAs remain stable, but dormant, throughout oocyte maturation. On the contrary, mos belongs to a class of maternal mRNAs that contain a specific motif called EDEN (embryonic deadenylation element) within their 3'-UTR. This 17-nuclotide sequence recruits the deadenylation-promoting factor EDEN-BP that is responsible for deadenylation, and thus translational inactivation, following fertilization (Paillard and Osborne 2003). EDEN-BP homologues are CUG-BP in somatic human cells (Paillard et al. 2003), etr-1 in C. elegans (Milne and Hodgkin 1999), and Bru-3 a paralogue of Bruno in Drosophila (Delaunay et al. 2004).

## Translational inactivation by masking of mRNAs

As previously described, the formation of a "closed loop" complex through PABP and the initiation factors eIF4G and eIF4E on a properly polyadenylated and capped mRNA is a prerequisite for efficient translation (Piccioni *et al.* 2005a). The adaptor protein eIF4G is able to bind simultaneously the cap-binding factor eIF4E, through an eIF4E-binding motif (YxxxL $\Phi$ , where  $\Phi$  is an aliphatic residue) and the poly(A)-binding protein PABP. While the eIF4E-eIF4G interaction with the cap structure is essential for translation initiation, the eIF4G-PABP binding is not strictly required for ribosome recruitment, but constitutes a control point to modulate translation.

A general control on eIF4E is exerted by a class of inhibitors, known as eIF4E-binding proteins (4E-BPs) (Karim *et al.* 2001), which sequester the majority of both free and cap-bound eIF4E, thus preventing its binding to eIF4G. Hyperphosphorylation of 4E-BPs prevents their binding to eIF4E and therefore promotes translation initiation. On the contrary, specific translational repressors, all containing eIF4E-binding motifs, exert their activity on select mRNAs. These proteins act as masking factors and can associate with the mRNA either in the nucleus or in the cytoplasm. A prototype of this group of proteins is Maskin that regulates the translation of CPE-containing mRNAs, including *cyclin B1* mRNA in *Xenopus* oocytes. Maskin binds simultaneously CPEB and eIF4E, thus preventing the formation of the translation initiation complex (Stebbins-Boaz *et al.* 1999). During oocyte maturation, Maskin undergoes a differential phosphorylation necessary to induce its dissociation from eIF4E (Barnard *et al.* 2005). The displacement of Maskin is concurrently promoted by the interaction between eIF4G and PABP (Cao and Richter 2002).

Similarly to Maskin, the Drosophila Cup protein plays an important role in the localization and translational repression of maternal mRNAs during oogenesis and early embryogenesis (Wilhelm et al. 2003; Nelson et al. 2004; Nakamura et al. 2004; Zappavigna et al. 2004; Piccioni et al. 2005b). One of the mRNA targets of Cup is the above-mentioned osk mRNA. Cup is able to bind directly both Bruno and eIF4E (Nakamura et al. 2004). A simple proposed model considers the formation of a Bruno-Cup-eIF4E complex between the 5'- and 3'-UTR of osk mRNA to prevent the assembly of the eIF4E/eIF4G complex, thus inhibiting translation. Activation of osk translation is at least in part dependent on the elongation of its poly(A) tail, a process mediated by Orb. Moreover, Cup interacts with Barentsz, a plus end-directed microtubule transport factor (Wilhelm et al. 2003) suggesting a possible role in osk mRNA localization. Homologues of Cup have been identified in human (eIF4E-transporter or 4E-T; Dostie et al. 2000) and mouse (Clast4; Villaescusa et al. 2006). Clast4 mRNA and protein are indeed highly expressed within the cytoplasm of growing oocytes (Villaescusa et al. 2006).

Another class of proteins detected in the germ cells as specific components of mRNP particles, and shown to be involved in mRNA masking, are the Y-box proteins. All these proteins are able to interact with both DNA and RNA sequences to control transcription and translation of specific genes and mRNAs respectively (Matsumoto and Wolffe 1998). Although Y-box proteins are present in all cell types, some have been identified as germ-specific proteins implicated in the masking of stored mRNAs from translation (Sommerville and Ladomery 1996). In Xenopus oocytes, the Y-box protein FRGY2 is the major component of translationally repressed mRNPs. It binds single-stranded RNA in association with other factors such as the  $\alpha$ -subunit of CK2 kinase and the RNA helicase Xp54. These proteins may interact with a translation repressor complex that contains CPEB and contacts the cap-binding protein eIF4E in a molecular bridge between the 5' and 3' ends of mRNAs (Weston and Sommerville 2006). Similarly, in *Drosophila* oocytes, the Y-box protein Ypsilon Schachtel (Yps) and the helicase Me31B are components of the osk RNP complex. Orb is also part of this complex and its function may antagonize the translational inhibition due to Yps (Nakamura et al. 2001; Mansfield et al. 2002). The above-mentioned Ybox proteins involved in translational regulation in germ cells are conserved in different organisms: homologues of FRGY2, for example, include MSY2 in mouse and CEY-2/3/4 in *C. elegans*.

#### RNA interference: siRNAs and miRNAs

Recent studies are starting to shed light on alternative mechanisms for translational control during germ-line development. In particular, the discovery of a growing number of stable and dormant mRNAs, associated with polyribosomes (Clark *et al.* 2000; Braat *et al.* 2004), suggests the existence of post-initiation translational repression processes based on microRNAs (miRNAs). Moreover, studies on the role played by small interfering RNAs (siRNA) during oogenesis are tending towards the integration of the regulatory mechanisms based on small antisense RNA species, with those described above. cess of post-transcriptional gene silencing, whose central players are small non-coding mRNAs: siRNAs and miRNAs, especially. Even if the two types of molecules have different origin, evolutionary conservation, and target genes, they share a similar mechanism of action, thus performing an interchangeable biochemical function (Bartel et al. 2004; Bushati and Cohen 2007). The biosynthetic pathways of miRNAs and siRNAs converge when the activity of the RNase III endonuclease Dicer generates RNA duplexes of 21-23 nucleotides. However, while Dicer cleaves miRNAs from a hairpin RNA, siRNAs originate by Dicer cleavage of a long double-stranded RNA. Successively, the RNA-induced silencing complex RISC allows the antisense strand of the duplex to recognize its RNA target on the basis of sequence complementarity. In general, siRNAs fully anneal with their target molecule and consequently promote its degradation; on the contrary, miRNAs show partial complementarity to regions of the 3'-UTR of the target mRNA that is in turn translationally repressed.

Several proteins associated with the RISC complex belong to a protein family containing a conserved C-termi-nal PIWI domain and a central PAZ domain. The founder member of this protein family is the PIWI-PAZ protein Argonaute (Ago) that is the major component of RISC complexes present in different organisms (Tolia and Joshua-Tor 2007). The Argonaute family includes proteins that can be grouped in various sub-families. The functional differences among them are poorly understood, however their activity does not seem to be redundant. In particular, the Piwi subfamily of Argonaute proteins has been shown to associate with a novel class of small RNAs (piRNAs) mainly expressed in mammalian male germ-line, which seem to be critical for proper sperm development. Moreover, in Drosophila, Piwi proteins are involved in silencing of retrotransposons (Vagin et al. 2006), and in other organisms, including mammals, appear to be important for germ-line stem cell maintenance and meiosis (Girard et al. 2006; Parker and Barford 2006; Park et al. 2007).

In late-stage Drosophila oocytes, at least 4% of all expressed genes are regulated by miRNAs (Nakahara et al. 2005). Some evidences suggest that osk mRNA translation might be regulated by an RNA interference mechanism in addition to translational repression by Cup. In fact osk mRNA was found to be associated with polysomes when not localized and translationally repressed (Braat et al. 2004). Moreover, mutations in the *aubergine*, *spindle-E*, armitage, and maelstrom genes (encoding a PIWI/PAZ domain protein, a DEAD-box helicase, an ATP dependent helicase, and a protein required for the localization of a subset of RNAi pathway components, respectively) all induce premature accumulation of the Oskar protein (Kennerdell et al. 2002; Cook et al. 2004; Tomari et al. 2004; Wilhelm and Smibert 2005). All these proteins are components of the RNAi pathway whose homologues were found also in other animal species.

Depending on organisms, the various components of the interference machinery are often represented by different forms. For instance, in Drosophila two Dicer have been identified: DCR1, involved in miRNAs cleavage, acting as heterodimer with the double-stranded RNA-binding protein Loquacious, and DCR2 that excises siRNAs from long double-stranded RNAs (Lee et al. 2004; Forstemann et al. 2005). In C. elegans as well as in mammals only one Dicer has been identified. In the mouse oocyte, disruption of the Dicer gene causes growth arrest and defects in meiotic spindle organization and chromosome congression. Moreover, a set of transcripts, whose sequences contain putative miRNA target sites, is up-regulated in *Dicer* knockout oocytes, thus suggesting a crucial role of Dicer in the turnover of many maternal transcripts during meiotic maturation (Murchison et al. 2007).

RNA interference is an evolutionarily conserved pro-

## CONCLUSIONS

All animals emerge upon fertilization of mature oocytes that have the extraordinary ability to provide almost all the factors and components sufficient and necessary to direct the early stages of development. In the oocyte and early embryo, the chromosomes are transcriptionally silent, thus development must reside on post-transcriptional rather than transcriptional regulation of so-called maternal mRNAs and nutritional factors. Hence, it is not surprising that many players and molecular mechanisms, directing oocyte growth and maturation, appear conserved in evolutionary distant animal species. However, many of the similarities and differences observed during metazoan oogenesis still need to be studied and ascertained.

Oocytes can be easily obtained, manipulated, and cultured. They represent a well-established *in vivo* system where to study basic biological questions: regulation of mRNA stability, localization, and translation, hormonal stimuli, apoptosis, cell cycle progression, among others. What we learn in oogenesis can be transferred to more complex cell and tissue types: i.e. the CPEB protein acts not only during oogenesis, but also in neurons, thus in adult somatic cells, to modulate neuronal plasticity (Wu *et al.* 1998).

In the oocyte, basic molecular pathways have been discovered, including evolutionary conserved translational control mechanisms and machineries directing both repression and activation of dormant mRNAs. Most of these activities combine the mode of action of ubiquitous molecules (like eIF4E) with specific factors (like Cup) in order to regulate translation of select mRNAs.

The studies on oogenesis are therefore far to be completed. For example, the expanding family of small RNAs, mostly siRNAs and miRNAs controlling either degradation or silencing of many RNAs, may represent another class of molecules whose mechanism of action could be studied and understood within the developing oocyte.

In an era correctly aimed at the identification of the molecular bases of genetic deseases, the egg can still function as a simplified in vivo system where to study conserved developmental pathways whose relevance to human health is increasingly becoming evident.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank members of our laboratories for advice and critical reading of the manuscript. We apologize to researchers we have not cited due to space limitations. This work was supported by a grant from the Italian Ministry of Education (MIUR) to ACV.

#### REFERENCES

- Abrieu A, Doree M, Fisher D (2001) The interplay between cyclin-B-Cdc2 kinase (MPF) and MAP kinase during maturation of oocytes. *Journal of Cell Science* 114, 257-267
- Barkoff AF, Dickson KS, Gray NK, Wickens M (2000) Translational control of cyclin B1 mRNA during meiotic maturation: coordinated repression and cytoplasmic polyadenylation. *Developmental Biology* 220, 97-109
- Barnard DC, Cao Q, Richter JD (2005) Differential phosphorylation controls Maskin association with eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E and localization on the mitotic apparatus. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 25, 7605-7615
- Bartel DP (2004) MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. Cell 116, 281-297

Baum JS, St George JP, McCall K (2005) Programmed cell death in the germline. Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology 16, 245-259

- Berkowitz LA, Strome S (2000) MES-1, a protein required for unequal divisions of the germline in early *C. elegans* embryos, resembles receptor tyrosine kinases and is localized to the boundary between the germline and gut cells. *Development* **127**, 4419-4431
- Braat AK, Yan N, Arn E, Harrison D, Macdonald PM (2004) Localizationdependent oskar protein accumulation; control after the initiation of translation. *Developmental Cell* 7, 125-131

Brown S, Zeidler MP, Hombria JE (2006) JAK/STAT signalling in Drosophila controls cell motility during germ cell migration. Developmental Dynamics 235, 958-966

Bushati N, Cohen SM (2007) microRNA Functions. Annual Review of Cell

and Developmental Biology 23, 175-205

- Callaini G, Riparbelli MG, Dallai R (1995) Pole cell migration through the gut wall of the *Drosophila* embryo: analysis of cell interactions. *Developmental Biology* 170, 365-375
- Cao Q, Richter JD (2002) Dissolution of the maskin-eIF4E complex by cytoplasmic polyadenylation and poly(A)-binding protein controls cyclin B1 mRNA translation and oocyte maturation. *The EMBO Journal* 21, 3852-3862
- Castagnetti S, Ephrussi A (2003) Orb and a long poly(A) tail are required for efficient oskar translation at the posterior pole of the *Drosophila* oocyte. *Development* 130, 835-843
- Castrillon DH, Quade BJ, Wang TY, Quigley C, Crum CP (2000) The human VASA gene is specifically expressed in the germ cell lineage. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 97, 9585-9590
- Cavaliere V, Taddei C, Gargiulo G (1998) Apoptosis of nurse cells at the late stages of oogenesis of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Development Genes and Evolution* 208, 106-112
- Chang JS, Tan L, Schedl P (1999) The Drosophila CPEB homolog, orb, is required for oskar protein expression in oocytes. *Developmental Biology* 215, 91-106
- Charlesworth A, Ridge JA, King LA, MacNicol MC, MacNicol AM (2002) A novel regulatory element determines the timing of Mos mRNA translation during *Xenopus* oocyte maturation. *The EMBO Journal* 21, 2798-2806
- Charlesworth A, Wilczynska A, Thampi P, Cox LL, MacNicol AM (2006) Musashi regulates the temporal order of mRNA translation during Xenopus oocyte maturation. *The EMBO Journal* 25, 2792-2801
- Chesnel F, Eppig JJ (1995) Synthesis and accumulation of p34cdc2 and cyclin B in mouse oocytes during acquisition of competence to resume meiosis. *Molecular Reproduction and Development* 40, 503-508
- Clark IE, Wyckoff D, Gavis ER (2000) Synthesis of the posterior determinant Nanos is spatially restricted by a novel cotranslational regulatory mechanism. *Current Biology* 10, 1311-1314
- Cook HA, Koppetsch BS, Wu J, Theurkauf WE (2004) The Drosophila SDE3 homolog armitage is required for oskar mRNA silencing and embryonic axis specification. *Cell* 116, 817-829
- Copeland PR, Wormington M (2001) The mechanism and regulation of deadenylation: identification and characterization of *Xenopus* PARN. *RNA* 7, 875-886
- de Cuevas M, Spradling AC (1998) Morphogenesis of the Drosophila fusome and its implications for oocyte specification. Development 125, 2781-2789
- de Moor CH, Meijer H, Lissenden S (2005) Mechanisms of translational control by the 3' UTR in development and differentiation. Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology 16, 49-58
- Dekel N (1996) Protein phosphorylation/dephosphorylation in the meiotic cell cycle of mammalian oocytes. *Reviews of Reproduction* 1, 82-88
- Dekel N (2005) Cellular, biochemical and molecular mechanisms regulating oocyte maturation. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology* 234, 19-25
- Delaunay J, Le Mee G, Ezzeddine N, Labesse G, Terzian C, Capri M, Ait-Ahmed O (2004) The Drosophila Bruno paralogue Bru-3 specifically binds the EDEN translational repression element. Nucleic Acids Research 32, 3070-3082
- Dostie J, Ferraiuolo M, Pause A, Adam SA, Sonenberg N (2000) A novel shuttling protein, 4E-T, mediates the nuclear import of the mRNA 5' cap-binding protein, eIF4E. *The EMBO Journal* 19, 3142-3156
- Drummond-Barbosa D, Spradling AC (2001) Stem cells and their progeny respond to nutritional changes during *Drosophila* oogenesis. *Developmental Biology* 231, 265-278
- Dumont J, Umbhauer M, Rassinier P, Hanauer A, Verlhac MH (2005) p90Rsk is not involved in cytostatic factor arrest in mouse oocytes. *The Jour*nal of Cell Biology 169, 227-231
- Eichenlaub-Ritter U, Peschke M (2002) Expression in *in-vivo* and *in-vitro* growing and maturing oocytes: focus on regulation of expression at the translational level. *Human Reproduction Update* **8**, 21-41
- Extavour CG, Akam M (2003) Mechanisms of germ cell specification across the metazoans: epigenesis and preformation. *Development* 130, 5869-5884
- Foley K, Cooley L (1998) Apoptosis in late stage Drosophila nurse cells does not require genes within the H99 deficiency. *Development* 125, 1075-1082
- Forbes A, Lehmann R (1998) Nanos and Pumilio have critical roles in the development and function of *Drosophila* germline stem cells. *Development* 125, 679-690
- Forstemann K, Tomari Y, Du T, Vagin VV, Denli AM, Bratu DP, Klattenhoff C, Theurkauf WE, Zamore PD (2005) Normal microRNA maturation and germ-line stem cell maintenance requires Loquacious, a double-stranded RNA-binding domain protein. *PLoS Biology* **3**, e236
- Fujiwara Y, Komiya T, Kawabata H, Sato M, Fujimoto H, Furusawa M, Noce T (1994) Isolation of a DEAD-family protein gene that encodes a murine homolog of Drosophila vasa and its specific expression in germ cell lineage. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 91, 12258-12262
- Gard DL, Affleck D, Error BM (1995) Microtubule organization, acetylation, and nucleation in *Xenopus laevis* oocytes: II. A developmental transition in microtubule organization during early diplotene. *Developmental Biology* 168, 189-201
- Gavis ER, Lunsford L, Bergsten SE, Lehmann R (1996) A conserved 90 nucleotide element mediates translational repression of nanos RNA. *Develop-*

ment 122, 2791-2800

- Gebauer F, Xu W, Cooper GM, Richter JD (1994) Translational control by cytoplasmic polyadenylation of c-mos mRNA is necessary for oocyte maturation in the mouse. *The EMBO Journal* 13, 5712–5720
- Gebauer F, Richter JD (1996) Mouse cytoplasmic polyadenylylation element binding protein: an evolutionarily conserved protein that interacts with the cytoplasmic polyadenylylation elements of c-mos mRNA. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 93, 14602-14607
- Gilboa L, Lehmann R (2004) Repression of primordial germ cell differentiation parallels germ line stem cell maintenance. *Current Biology* **14**, 981-986
- Girard A, Sachidanandam R, Hannon GJ, Carmell MA (2006) A germlinespecific class of small RNAs binds mammalian Piwi proteins. *Nature* 442, 199-202
- Gotoh Y, Masuyama N, Dell K, Shirakabe K, Nishida E (1995) Initiation of *Xenopus* oocyte maturation by activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* **270**, 25898-25904
- Greenstein D (2005) Control of oocyte meiotic maturation and fertilization. In: The C. elegans Research Community, WormBook (Ed) WormBook. Available online: http://www.wormbook.org.
- Gumienny TL, Lambie E, Hartwieg E, Horvitz HR, Hengartner MO (1999) Genetic control of programmed cell death in the *Caenorhabditis elegans* hermaphrodite germline. *Development* 126, 1011-1022
- Haccard O, Jessus C (2006) Redundant pathways for Cdc2 activation in Xenopus oocyte: either cyclin B or Mos synthesis. EMBO Reports 7, 321-325
- Hake LE, Richter JD (1994) CPEB is a specificity factor that mediates cytoplasmic polyadenylation during *Xenopus* oocyte maturation. *Cell* 79, 617-627
- Heifetz Y, Yu J, Wolfner MF (2001) Ovulation triggers activation of Drosophila oocytes. Developmental Biology 234, 416-424
- Hird SN, Paulsen JE, Strome S (1996) Segregation of germ granules in living Caenorhabditis elegans embryos: cell-type-specific mechanisms for cytoplasmic localisation. Development 122, 1303-1312
- Huarte J, Stutz A, O'Connell ML, Gubler P, Belin D, Darrow AL, Strickland S, Vassalli JD (1992) Transient translational silencing by reversible mRNA deadenylation. *Cell* 69, 1021-1030
- Ivanovska I, Lee E, Kwan KM, Fenger DD, Orr-Weaver TL (2004) The Drosophila MOS ortholog is not essential for meiosis. Current Biology 14, 75-80
- Jaruzelska J, Kotecki M, Kusz K, Spik A, Firpo M, Reijo Pera RA (2003) Conservation of a Pumilio-Nanos complex from *Drosophila* germ plasm to human germ cells. *Development Genes and Evolution* 213, 120-126
- Josefsberg LB, Galiani D, Lazar S, Kaufman O, Seger R, Dekel N (2003) Maturation-promoting factor governs mitogen-activated protein kinase activation and interphase suppression during meiosis of rat oocytes. *Biology of Reproduction* 68, 1282-1290
- Kadyrova LY, Habara Y, Lee TH, Wharton RP (2007) Translational control of maternal Cyclin B mRNA by Nanos in the *Drosophila* germline. *Development* 134, 1519-1527
- Karim MM, Hughes JM, Warwicker J, Scheper GC, Proud CG, McCarthy JE (2001) A quantitative molecular model for modulation of mammalian translation by the eIF4E-binding protein 1. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 276, 20750-20757
- Kennerdell JR, Yamaguchi S, Carthew RW (2002) RNAi is activated during Drosophila oocyte maturation in a manner dependent on aubergine and spindle-E. Genes and Development 16, 1884-1889
- Kim JH, Richter JD (2006) Opposing polymerase-deadenylase activities regulate cytoplasmic polyadenylation. *Molecular Cell* 24, 173-183
- Kloc M, Bilinski S, Dougherty MT, Brey EM, Etkin LD (2004) Formation, architecture and polarity of female germline cyst in *Xenopus*. *Developmental Biology* 266, 43-61
- Komiya T, Itoh K, Ikenishi K, Furusawa M (1994) Isolation and characterization of a novel gene of the DEAD box protein family which is specifically expressed in germ cells of *Xenopus laevis*. *Developmental Biology* 162, 354-363
- Kotani T, Yamashita M (2002) Discrimination of the roles of MPF and MAP kinase in morphological changes that occur during oocyte maturation. *Developmental Biology* 252, 271-286
- Kwak JE, Wang L, Ballantyne S, Kimble J, Wickens M (2004) Mammalian GLD-2 homologs are poly(A) polymerases. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 101, 4407-4412
- Lantz V, Ambrosio L, Schedl P (1992) The Drosophila orb gene is predicted to encode sex-specific germline RNA-binding proteins and has localized transcripts in ovaries and early embryos. Development 115, 75-88
- Lantz V, Chang JS, Horabin JI, Bopp D, Schedl P (1994) The *Drosophila* orb RNA-binding protein is required for the formation of the egg chamber and establishment of polarity. *Genes and Development* **8**, 598-613
- Lazar S, Galiani D, Dekel N (2002) cAMP-Dependent PKA negatively regulates polyadenylation of c-mos mRNA in rat oocytes. *Molecular Endocrinology* 16, 331-341
- Lazar S, Gershon E, Dekel N (2004) Selective degradation of cyclin B1 mRNA in rat oocytes by RNA interference (RNAi). *Journal Molecular Endo*crinology 33, 73-85
- Lee YS, Nakahara K, Pham JW, Kim K, He Z, Sontheimer EJ, Carthew RW (2004) Distinct roles for *Drosophila* Dicer-1 and Dicer-2 in the

siRNA/miRNA silencing pathways. Cell 117, 69-81

- Madgwick S, Jones KT (2007) How eggs arrest at metaphase II: MPF stabilisation plus APC/C inhibition equals Cytostatic Factor. Cell Division 2, 4
- Mahowald AP (2001) Assembly of the Drosophila germ plasm. International Review of Cytology 203, 187-213
- Mansfield JH, Wilhelm JE, Hazelrigg T (2002) Ypsilon Schachtel, a Drosophila Y-box protein, acts antagonistically to Orb in the oskar mRNA localization and translation pathway. Development 129, 197-209
- Masui Y (1991) Roles of protein synthesis in the control of chromosome behavior during egg maturation and activation. *Bulletin de l'Association des Anatomistes* 75, 81-83
- Masui Y (2000) The elusive cytostatic factor in the animal egg. *Nature reviews*. *Molecular Cell Biology* **1**, 228-232
- Masui Y (2001) From oocyte maturation to the *in vitro* cell cycle: the history of discoveries of Maturation-Promoting Factor (MPF) and Cytostatic Factor (CSF). *Differentiation* 69, 1-17
- Masui Y, Clarke HJ (1979) Oocyte maturation. International Review of Cytology 57, 185-282
- Matova N, Cooley L (2001) Comparative aspects of animal oogenesis. Developmental Biology 231, 291-320
- Matsumoto K, Wolffe AP (1998) Gene regulation by Y-box proteins: coupling control of transcription and translation. *Trends in Cell Biology* 8, 318-323
- Matzuk MM, Lamb DJ (2002) Genetic dissection of mammalian fertility pathways. Nature Cell Biology 4 Suppl, s41-49
- Mazzalupo S, Cooley L (2006) Illuminating the role of caspases during Drosophila oogenesis. Cell Death and Differentiation 13, 1950-1959
- McCall K (2004) Eggs over easy: cell death in the Drosophila ovary. Developmental Biology 274, 3-14
- Mendez R, Hake LE, Andresson T, Littlepage LE, Ruderman JV, Richter JD (2000) Phosphorylation of CPE binding factor by Eg2 regulates translation of c-mos mRNA. *Nature* 404, 302-307
- Mendez R, Richter JD (2001) Translational control by CPEB: a means to the end. *Nature Reviews. Molecular Cell Biology* 2, 521-529
- Milne CA, Hodgkin J (1999) ETR-1, a homologue of a protein linked to myotonic dystrophy, is essential for muscle development in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Current Biology 9, 1243-1246
- Molyneaux K, Wylie C (2004) Primordial germ cell migration. The International Journal of Developmental Biology 48, 537-544
- Morita Y, Tilly JL (1999) Oocyte apoptosis: like sand through an hourglass. Developmental Biology 213, 1-17
- Munroe D, Jacobson A (1990) Tales of poly(A): a review. Gene 91, 151-158
- Murchison EP, Stein P, Xuan Z, Pan H, Zhang MQ, Schultz RM, Hannon GJ (2007) Critical roles for Dicer in the female germline. *Genes and Development* 21, 682-693
- Nakahara K, Kim K, Sciulli C, Dowd SR, Minden JS, Carthew RW (2005) Targets of microRNA regulation in the *Drosophila* oocyte proteome. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 102, 12023-12028
- Nakahata S, Katsu Y, Mita K, Inoue K, Nagahama Y, Yamashita M (2001) Biochemical identification of *Xenopus* Pumilio as a sequence-specific cyclin B1 mRNA-binding protein that physically interacts with a Nanos homolog, Xcat-2, and a cytoplasmic polyadenylation element-binding protein. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 276, 20945-20953
- Nakamura A, Amikura R, Hanyu K, Kobayashi S (2001) Me31B silences translation of oocyte-localizing RNAs through the formation of cytoplasmic RNP complex during *Drosophila* oogenesis. *Development* **128**, 3233-3242
- Nakamura A, Sato K, Hanyu-Nakamura K (2004) *Drosophila* cup is an eIF4E binding protein that associates with Bruno and regulates oskar mRNA translation in oogenesis. *Developmental Cell* **6**, 69-78
- Nelson MR, Leidal AM, Smibert CA (2004) Drosophila Cup is an eIF4E-binding protein that functions in Smaug-mediated translational repression. The EMBO Journal 23, 150-159
- Nezis IP, Stravopodis DJ, Margaritis LH, Papassideri IS (2006) Chromatin condensation of ovarian nurse and follicle cells is regulated independently from DNA fragmentation during *Drosophila* late oogenesis. *Differentiation* 74, 293-304
- Nezis IP, Stravopodis DJ, Papassideri I, Robert-Nicoud M, Margaritis LH (2000) Stage-specific apoptotic patterns during *Drosophila* oogenesis. *European Journal of Cell Biology* 79, 610-620
- Nezis IP, Stravopodis DJ, Papassideri I, Robert-Nicoud M, Margaritis LH (2002) Dynamics of apoptosis in the ovarian follicle cells during the late stages of *Drosophila* oogenesis. *Cell and Tissue Research* **307**, 401-409
- Nishiumi F, Komiya T, Ikenishi K (2005) The mode and molecular mechanisms of the migration of presumptive PGC in the endoderm cell mass of *Xenopus* embryos. *Development, Growth and Differentiation* 47, 37-48
- Paillard L, Legagneux V, Beverley Osborne H (2003) A functional deadenylation assay identifies human CUG-BP as a deadenylation factor. *Biology* of the Cell 95, 107-113
- Paillard L, Osborne HB (2003) East of EDEN was a poly(A) tail. Biology of the Cell 95, 211-219
- Parisi M, Lin H (2000) Translational repression: a duet of Nanos and Pumilio. Current Biology 10, R81-83
- Park JK, Liu X, Strauss TJ, McKearin DM, Liu Q (2007) The miRNA pathway intrinsically controls self-renewal of *Drosophila* germline stem cells.

Current Biology 17, 533-538

- Parker JS, Barford D (2006) Argonaute: A scaffold for the function of short regulatory RNAs. Trends in Biochemical Sciences 31, 622-630
- Pepling ME, de Cuevas M, Spradling AC (1999) Germline cysts: a conserved phase of germ cell development? *Trends in Cell Biology* 9, 257-262
- Pepling ME, Spradling AC (1998) Female mouse germ cells form synchronously dividing cysts. Development 125, 3323-3328
- Peterson JS, Barkett M, McCall K (2003) Stage-specific regulation of caspase activity in drosophila oogenesis. *Developmental Biology* 260, 113-123
- Plusa B, Hadjantonakis AK, Gray D, Piotrowska-Nitsche K, Jedrusik A, Papaioannou VE, Glover DM, Zernicka-Goetz M (2005) The first cleavage of the mouse zygote predicts the blastocyst axis. *Nature* 434, 391-395
- Piccioni F, Zappavigna V, Verrotti AC (2005a) Translational regulation during oogenesis and early development: the cap-poly(A) tail relationship. *Comptes Rendus Biologies* 328, 863-881
- Piccioni F, Zappavigna V, Verrotti AC (2005b) A cup full of functions. RNA Biology 2, 125-128
- Racki WJ, Richter JD (2006) CPEB controls oocyte growth and follicle development in the mouse. Development 133, 4527-4537
- Raz E (2000) The function and regulation of vasa-like genes in germ-cell development. *Genome Biology* 1, REVIEWS1017
- Raz E (2004) Guidance of primordial germ cell migration. Current Opinion in Cell Biology 16, 169-173
- Read RL, Martinho RG, Wang SW, Carr AM, Norbury CJ (2002) Cytoplasmic poly(A) polymerases mediate cellular responses to S phase arrest. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **99**, 12079-12084
- Richter JD (2007) CPEB: a life in translation. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* 32, 279-285
- Roussell DL, Bennett KL (1993) glh-1, a germ-line putative RNA helicase from Caenorhabditis, has four zinc fingers. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 90, 9300-9304
- Roy A, Matzuk MM (2006) Deconstructing mammalian reproduction: using knockouts to define fertility pathways. *Reproduction* 131, 207-219
- Saffman EE, Lasko P (1999) Germline development in vertebrates and invertebrates. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences 55, 1141-1163
- Saitoh S, Chabes A, McDonald WH, Thelander L, Yates JR, Russell P (2002) Cid13 is a cytoplasmic poly(A) polymerase that regulates ribonucleotide reductase mRNA. *Cell* 109, 563-573
- Santos AC, Lehmann R (2004a) Germ cell specification and migration in Drosophila and beyond. Current Biology 14, R578-589
- Santos AC, Lehmann R (2004b) Isoprenoids control germ cell migration downstream of HMGCoA reductase. *Developmental Cell* 6, 283-293
- Schmitt A, Nebreda AR (2002) Signalling pathways in oocyte meiotic maturation. Journal of Cell Science 115, 2457-2459
- Schupbach T, Wieschaus E (1986) Germline autonomy of maternal-effect mutations altering the embryonic body pattern of *Drosophila*. *Developmental Biology* 113, 443-448
- Schwab MS, Roberts BT, Gross SD, Tunquist BJ, Taieb FE, Lewellyn AL, Maller JL (2001) Bub1 is activated by the protein kinase p90(Rsk) during *Xenopus* oocyte maturation. *Current Biology* 11, 141-150
- Sommerville J, Ladomery M (1996) Transcription and masking of mRNA in germ cells: involvement of Y-box proteins. *Chromosoma* **104**, 469-478
- Stebbins-Boaz B, Cao Q, de Moor CH, Mendez R, Richter JD (1999) Maskin is a CPEB-associated factor that transiently interacts with eIF-4E. *Molecular Cell* 4, 1017-1027
- Strome S, Wood WB (1982) Immunofluorescence visualization of germ-linespecific cytoplasmic granules in embryos, larvae, and adults of *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 79, 1558-1562
- Subramaniam K, Seydoux G (1999) nos-1 and nos-2, two genes related to Drosophila nanos, regulate primordial germ cell development and survival in Caenorhabditis elegans. Development 126, 4861-4871
- Tay J, Hodgman R, Sarkissian M, Richter JD (2003) Regulated CPEB phosphorylation during meiotic progression suggests a mechanism for temporal control of maternal mRNA translation. *Genes and Development* 17, 1457-1462
- Tay J, Richter JD (2001) Germ cell differentiation and synaptonemal complex formation are disrupted in CPEB knockout mice. *Developmental Cell* 1, 201-213
- Thorpe JL, Doitsidou M, Ho SY, Raz E, Farber SA (2004) Germ cell migration in zebrafish is dependent on HMGCoA reductase activity and prenylation. *Developmental Cell* **6**, 295-302

- Tolia NH, Joshua-Tor L (2007) Slicer and the argonautes. *Nature Chemical Biology* **3**, 36-43
- Tomari Y, Du T, Haley B, Schwarz DS, Bennett R, Cook HA, Koppetsch BS, Theurkauf WE, Zamore PD (2004) RISC assembly defects in the Drosophila RNAi mutant armitage. Cell 116, 831-841
- Tsang TE, Khoo PL, Jamieson RV, Zhou SX, Ang SL, Behringer R, Tam PP (2001) The allocation and differentiation of mouse primordial germ cells. *The International Journal of Developmental Biology* 45, 549-555
- Tsurumi C, Hoffmann S, Geley S, Graeser R, Polanski Z (2004) The spindle assembly checkpoint is not essential for CSF arrest of mouse oocytes. *The Journal of Cell Biology* 167, 1037-1050
- Tunquist BJ, Maller JL (2003) Under arrest: cytostatic factor (CSF)-mediated metaphase arrest in vertebrate eggs. Genes and Development 17, 683-710
- Tunquist B, Schwab M, Chen L, Maller J (2002) The spindle checkpoint kinase Bub1 and cyclin E/Cdk2 both contribute to the establishment of meiotic metaphase arrest by cytostatic factor. *Current Biology* 12, 1027-1033
- Vagin VV, Sigova A, Li C, Seitz H, Gvozdev V, Zamore PD (2006) A distinct small RNA pathway silences selfish genetic elements in the germline. *Science* 313, 320-324
- van Doren M, Broihier HT, Moore LA, Lehmann R (1998) HMG-CoA reductase guides migrating primordial germ cells. *Nature* **396**, 466-469
- Vanzo NF, Ephrussi A (2002) Oskar anchoring restricts pole plasm formation to the posterior of the Drosophila oocyte. *Development* **129**, 3705-3714
- Varnum SM, Wormington WM (1990) Deadenylation of maternal mRNAs during *Xenopus* oocyte maturation does not require specific *cis*-sequences: a default mechanism for translational control. *Genes and Development* 4, 2278-2286
- Vasudevan S, Seli E, Steitz JA (2006) Metazoan oocyte and early embryo development program: a progression through translation regulatory cascades. *Genes and Development* 20, 138-146
- Verrotti AC, Thompson SR, Wreden C, Strickland S, Wickens M (1996) Evolutionary conservation of sequence elements controlling cytoplasmic polyadenylylation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 93, 9027-9032
- Villaescusa JC, Allard P, Carminati E, Kontogiannea M, Talarico D, Blasi F, Farookhi R, Verrotti AC (2006) Clast4, the murine homologue of human eIF4E-Transporter, is highly expressed in developing oocytes and post-translationally modified at meiotic maturation. *Gene* **367**, 101-109
- Wang L, Eckmann CR, Kadyk LC, Wickens M, Kimble J (2002) A regulatory cytoplasmic poly(A) polymerase in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Nature* 419, 312-316
- Wells SE, Hillner PE, Vale RD, Sachs AB (1998) Circularization of mRNA by eukaryotic translation initiation factors. *Molecular Cell* 2, 135-140
- Weston A, Sommerville J (2006) Xp54 and related (DDX6-like) RNA helicases: roles in messenger RNP assembly, translation regulation and RNA degradation. *Nucleic Acids Research* **34**, 3082-3094
- Whitington PM, Dixon KE (1975) Quantitative studies of germ plasm and germ cells during early embryogenesis of *Xenopus laevis*. *Journal of Embry*ology and Experimental Morphology 33, 57-74
- Wickens M, Goodwin E, Kimble J, Strickland S, Hentze M (2000) Translational control in developmental decisions. In: Sonenberg N, Hershey J, Mathews M (Eds) *Translational Control of Gene Expression* (2<sup>nd</sup> Edn), Cold Spring Harbor Press, New York, pp 295-370
- Wilhelm JE, Hilton M, Amos Q, Henzel WJ (2003) Cup is an eIF4E binding protein required for both the translational repression of oskar and the recruitment of Barentsz. *The Journal of Cell Biology* 163, 1197-1204
- Wilhelm JE, Smibert CA (2005) Mechanisms of translational regulation in Drosophila. Biology of the Cell 97, 235-252
- Wreden C, Verrotti AC, Schisa JA, Lieberfarb ME, Strickland S (1997) Nanos and pumilio establish embryonic polarity in *Drosophila* by promoting posterior deadenylation of hunchback mRNA. *Development* 124, 3015-3023
- Wu L, Wells D, Tay J, Mendis D, Abbott M, Barnitt A, Quinlan E, Heynen A, Fallon J, Richter J (1998) CPEB-mediated cytoplasmic polyadenylation and the regulation of experience-dependent translation of α-CaMKII mRNA at synapses. *Neuron* 21, 1129-1139
- Yamashita M (1998) Molecular mechanisms of meiotic maturation and arrest in fish and amphibian oocytes. *Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology* 9, 569-579
- Zappavigna V, Piccioni F, Villaescusa JC, Verrotti AC (2004) Cup is a nucleocytoplasmic shuttling protein that interacts with the eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E to modulate Drosophila ovary development. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 101, 14800-14805